
     

 

 

Multi-State Metadata Index (MMI) Addendum 

 Questions and Answers 
 

CCSSO received and has responded to the following questions about the Request for Proposal Multi-
State Metadata Index (MMI). 
 

Question 
1 

Would it be preferred that the solution include an IMS Global certified CASE tool for the 
State Standards and Crosswalks? 

Answer 1 The MMI Task Force prefers any solution/service that adheres to recognized industry 
standards wherever possible. 

Question 
2 

Do MMI TF States desire that the solution include services to build the State Standards and 
Crosswalk data? 

Answer 2 Yes.  Many of the state representatives have expressed a lack of trust in outside vendor 
alignment so it is preferable to have a service where they control the alignment to their own 
standards.  This service is not required in the first phase of the implementation. 

Question 
3 

Does CCSSO expect the vendor to conduct quality review with trained editors, or the 
publishers of the content to do so, or enable end users of the service to be able to add 
quality reviews? 

Answer 3 The quality vetting of resources is to be the responsibility of each individual State. The ability 
to capture additional metadata about the resource posted by other States would be useful. 

Question 
4 

When the RFP states “The service will provide the means to facilitate the automated 
exchange of OER content between local OER platforms”, what is meant by “exchange of OER 
content between systems”?  Is it acceptable to reference the source content and metadata 
to facilitate this exchange? 

Answer 4 The intention is for States to transfer content metadata in order to expose to their users 
through their own OER/LOR/LMS platform.  No content is to be stored in the MMI, only 
metadata.  The metadata is to include a URL to the hosted content. 

Question 
5 

Is there a long range plan for the MMI that would include: 
1. A repository for content; 
2. A method for peer review of the content; 
3. A mechanism for identifying content based on learning styles to be used in a 

personalized learning solution. 

Answer 5 1. No content is to reside in the MMI, only metadata.   
2. Peer review and identification of learning styles is expected to be done in each 

State’s OER/LOR/LMS platform with the ability to post that metadata to the MMI. 
3. Learning styles is an example of a metadata field that could be captured but is not a 
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current requirement of the system. 

Question 
6 

Is CCSSO willing to permit the use of platform software such as Microsoft SharePoint or 
Microsoft's .Net Framework (not available under the Creative Commons or open source 
licensing) as long as all custom code written to leverage it is available as open source? 

Answer 6 Yes, though preference will be given to solutions that do not because of the costs of hosting 
a SharePoint environment and must be functional for every State. 

Question 
7 

Please give more information on your preferences for "containerized" technology that the 
app should be able to be tested with - on page 6. 

Answer 7 Containerized code for testing code and running software.  The most popular and easy to 
learn and most accessible will be given preference. 

Question 
8 

On page 7 it states, “The service will provide the means to facilitate the automated 
exchange of OER content between local OER platforms, will leverage a common metadata 
tagging framework, will provide the ability to support confidence matching of searched 
content to a user’s local state content standards and provide analytics to evaluate the 
service and access of published content. The service is not intended to serve as an OER 
platform.”  Is the framework, then for the MMI to pull content from an existing system and 
then push it into another (LMS, etc.) or is it to simply provide a link for an offline transfer 
later? 

Answer 8 The MMI is to be an index of the metadata of posted resources only.  Whether the 
mechanism to populate the MMI is push or pull technology is up to the proposer.  Multiple 
solutions are possible.  The MMI Task Force is looking for the simplest solution for achieving 
this goal. 

Question 
9 

Does the section on the State private node (page 11) refer to a capacity within the MMI for 
content creation?  If so, is there a standard framework to use to capture that data? 

Answer 9 The private node refers to only authorized users in member States being able to publish 
metadata to the MMI.  The framework should, at a minimum support the Multi-state 
Tagging Initiative metadata fields. 

Question 
10 

Are the "State private node(s)" - described on page 11 - represented as separate repositories 
labeled as "Links to [state] content" in the diagram on page 8?  Or are those different? 

Answer 
10 

No.   The private node is the MMI itself.  Only authorized users from member States should 
be able to publish metadata about the resources in their own content repositories to the 
MMI. 

Question 
11 

Is there a requirement for the MMI to provide alignment to state standards or are we to 
assume that data is provided already in the source system? 

Answer 
11 

Alignment to State standards is not the responsibility of the MMI but of the individual States 
in their content repositories.  The MMI should be able to capture that metadata. 
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Question 
12 

Please explain the level of help expected in reference to the paragraph on page 16 which 
begins, “Company shall help prepare any papers the Council considers necessary to secure 
any copyrights, patents, trademarks or other intellectual property rights at no charge to the 
Council.” 

Answer 
12 

Company is expected to provide needed information upon request, but will not be expected 
to actually prepare documents. 

Question 
13 

Is there a possibility of an extension of the deadline for submission? 

Answer 
13 

No.  We are hoping to have a review by the MMI Governing Body in mid-August and want 
the MMI Task Force members to provide input prior to that date. 

Question 
14 

Does your organization have a fully funded (and available) budget for this RFP? 

Answer 
14 

No.  Some funding is available but the purpose of this RFP is to identify the full scope of 
costs for pilot, implementation, and continued sustainability. 

Question 
15 

Would you be able to share your estimated or expected budget for this effort? 

Answer 
15 

No. 

Question 
16 

Do you have a total number of estimated or expected users that this ultimate solution may 
see each year? 

Answer 
16 

We expect somewhere between 5 and 10 authorized users per state to publish to the MMI 
but allow for public access to read. 

Question 
17 

Can you share the total number of users serviced by your existing Learning Registry 
solution? 

Answer 
17 

CCSSO does not own the Learning Registry solution. 

Question 
18 

Does your organization expect to add additional institutions/states or functionality to the 
MMI solution after it is officially finalized + delivered in March? If so, how would you expect 
those additions to be handled (would you call another RFP for example or discuss necessary 
additions/costs with us in a more informal manner)? 

Answer 
18 

We expect that after this “proof of concept” by the founding States, other States may want 
to participate in the MMI.  We would like to know from you what additions/costs you 
foresee as new States come onboard. 

Question 
19 

What is the expected timeframe for availability of the final solution? Do you imagine this 
would be something we would expect to re-evaluate frequently (every year, every 3 years, 
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etc) or should we expect this RFP to represent a full solution live for a specific time period 

Answer 
19 

We are hoping that the solution can provide the required functionality within a year but 
understand that ongoing maintenance and hosting costs will continue.  The cost response is 
looking for your proposed costs through June 2022. 

Question 
20 

Would you require a formal presentation after successful submission/vetting of a proposal?  

Answer 
20 

Presentations might be requested following the initial evaluation of the proposals.  This 
requirement will be determined by the MMI Governing Body. 

Question 
21 

How many states are currently committed to this work? 

Answer 
21 

The seven listed MMI States have committed to this work and signed on to the MMI 
Governance Guiding Principles. 

Question 
22 

How many states do you anticipate participating? Do you anticipate that they have the 
internal resources to do so? 

Answer 
22 

We expect 2-3 States to participate in a pilot of the solution with others following the 
success of the pilots.  Not all States have the same technical or business resources so 
contracted services may be required for some States. 

Question 
23 

Are states under any obligation to deploy the MMI? 

Answer 
23 

No. 

Question 
24 

Will agreements need to be made with individual states to share their metadata with each 
other? 

Answer 
24 

We don’t anticipate the need for sharing agreements as we expect most metadata to be of 
OER resources. 

Question 
25 

The RFP indicates a CC BY 4.0 license--is that for software? Might there be consideration of a 
full open source license for the software, such as Apache 2? 

Answer 
25 

1. No, Creative Commons licensing is for content not software. 
2. Specifically the code will: 

·         be labeled with the current open license (Apache License, Vers 2.0); 
·         require any and all derivative works to include an open license (as approved by 
OSI:https://opensource.org/licenses); 
·         be maintained in GitHub or other publicly accessible repository. 

Question The RFP states "the Council grants the Company a co-exclusive, unlimited, royalty- free, 

https://opensource.org/licenses
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26 world-wide license to use, reproduce, modify , prepare derivative versions of, and display 
the Work Product." This is perhaps a contradiction with licensing requirements elsewhere in 
the RFP? 

Answer 
26 

We expect the MMI to be open source similar to the Learning Registry and we would ‘own’ 
it in the way that U.S. Department of Education owns Learning Registry now (i.e. IP over the 
new name, governance structure, but open code for anyone to use). 

Question 
27 

The RFP timeline indicates support through 2022, therefore we should we assume funding is 
available through that time period? 

Answer 
27 

No assumption on funding should be made.  Some funding is available but there will be no 
decision to move forward until total costs are understood and acceptable to the MMI 
Governing Body. 

Question 
28 

On page 14 in section 5, “Cost Proposal”, the first item in the cost proposal table indicates a 
pilot of 2-3 states. In what subsequent phase(s) do the remaining states roll out, and do you 
envision these non-pilot states largely performing the roll out of their state on their own 
with the selected vendor providing only training as outlined in section 3.6? 

Answer 
28 

Yes.  Documentation should be as intuitive as possible to allow States to connect with a 
minimum amount of third-party support. 

Question 
29 

Does CCSSO have a preference for the language used to develop the platform? 

Answer 
29 

Our preference is a language that is popular in the larger development community. 

Question 
30 

Can you explain the governance structure (sponsor, executive committee, etc.) that will 
manage and oversee the project? 

 The MMI Task Force members will be primarily responsible for the project work with 
oversight from the MMI Governing Body (State CIO’s). 

Question 
31 

Section 3.6 says, “CCSSO recognizes that there are several options that can be deployed to 
successfully train the District staff on the proposed system.”  Is there a specific district in 
mind for the initial deployment of this platform?  If not, can you provide details on the 
relative scope of the initial training population (# of states, districts, etc.) 

 The word “District” should be replaced with “CCSSO and State” staff.  See answers to 
questions 16 and 22 regarding the initial training population. 

Question 
32 

Did CCSSO have outside support developing this RFP? 

Answer 
32 

A CCSSO consultant was tasked with development of the RFP with input and vetting from 
the MMI Task Force and Governing Body. 
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Question 
33 

Is OER content defined as web-based links only, or will the MMI also support the transfer of 
physical files? 

Answer 
33 

The OER content may contain web-based links, but would be metadata, not physical files. 
The MMI will host metadata on web-based links, no physical files are stored or transferred 
to the MMI.  

Question 
34 

Is the expectation that authentication to the MMI (for restricted functions) would support 
LTI? 

Answer 
34 

We expect than any industry standards are used where applicable. 

Question 
35 

Is it required that the MMI support the sharing of paid content that requires LTI 
authentication? 

Answer 
35 

Our initial purpose is to share metadata regarding non-paid, OER content only. 

Question 
36 

The MMI Draft Architecture diagram depicts SEA Staff as interacting directly with the MMI 
for both Input and Extract, separate from a state’s links to content.  
Is it more accurate to represent the Input (Publish) and Extract (Harvest Tool) actions 
separately 7 times in the middle of the relationships between states’ links to content and 
the broader MMI, rather 
than as singular isolated squares? 

Answer 
36 

The purpose of the diagram was to explain that each State has their own content repository 
and that we are looking for both individual and bulk publish and harvest features from each 
of the States.  Please provide any diagram that would make this process clear. 

Question 
37 

Are the Input and Extract processes exclusively for feeding links to state content to the MMI, 
and extracting links to content from the MMI for the purpose of feeding a state’s own 
repository? If not, what else? 

Answer 
37 

Correct.   

Question 
38 

Please describe a scenario where an SEA could share content to the MMI that was not 
evaluated/vetted. 

Answer 
38 

The MMI States have agreed to MMI Governance Guiding Principles which include: 
 Lead Publisher/Curator for each state 
 Assigned designees from the Lead Publisher/Curator for each state for development, 

vetting, publishing, and curation of content provided that state 

Question 
39 

What functions would be performed by local OER platforms? 

Answer The local OER platforms are responsible for the creation and maintenance of the State’s 
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39 resources and delivery of those resources to the schools in each State. 

Question 
40 

Do these include both commercial (e.g., LMS) and locally created platforms? 

Answer 
40 

Yes. 

Question 
41 

Do all local OER platforms support the ability to search across the MMI, or would the vendor 
need to create this functionality as part of fulfilling the RFP? 

Answer 
41 

We expect that the MMI would include a search feature where resource metadata is 
exposed to the State’s OER platform. 

Question 
42 

Are all local OER platforms capable of interacting with a MMI, requiring no coding 
intervention on behalf of either the platform provider or the SEA. 

Answer 
42 

We expect that some coding intervention may be required by the OER platform providers or 
SEA but hope that this “technical lift” can be as simple as possible. 

Question 
43 

Login and Verification is based on institution/organization not person” 
The description of this requirement refers to permissions by role, and doesn’t expand on 
requirements specific to login based on institution/organization. Is this statement meant to 
represent that the form of authentication must be able to identify the role of authenticated 
users’ institutions/organizations, but not the users themselves? 

Answer 
43 

The intent is that each SEA will designate one or several users that may act as “publisher” to 
the MMI.  Other roles may be needed.  Please submit how you think the process should 
work. 

Question 
44 

11e. refers to “Saved previous or exported by user.” Should this specify 
the user’s name, role, and organization? 

Answer 
44 

Yes. 

Question 
45 

“Ability to add comments to metadata records” 
Does this refer to comments made by the individual publishing the record to the MMI, or 
the consumer (e.g., Teacher) of the record upon searching through the MMI? 

Answer 
45 

At this point, this ability should be limited to the approved publishers of each State.  No 
direct access from to the MMI from teachers is expected at this time. 

Question 
46 

“Graphical User Interface for interaction by users who may not have the technical support 
that others have .” 
In this situation, would the GUI serve as a state’s “Local OER platform”? 

Answer 
46 

No.  The GUI represents how the State publishers/harvesters interact with the MMI. Based 
on state’s experience with LR, the users want a GUI that is easy for a non-coding person to 
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use for importing and exporting as well as searching metadata on the MMI.   

Question 
47 

Is the expectation that the vendor’s proposal should include the creation of both a user 
interface that enables CMS functions, AND a separate interface used by teachers to 
consume the output? 

Answer 
47 

The MMI is not to manage content, only metadata of content as published by the member 
States.  No direct teacher access is expected. 

Question 
48 

“Please describe the process for management and repair of broken links.” 
Is the expectation that this check is performed across the entire MMI and state specific 
nodes, or the MMI only? 
Is the assumption that the repair of broken links be the sole responsibility of the vendor? If 
not, who? If so, where should this be included in the cost response? 

Answer 
48 

The broken link checker should be limited to the links published to the MMI.  We are looking 
for a tool that periodically helps identify them.  It may be the responsibility of the State to 
correct them once identified. 

Question 
49 

“Phase II – Full publishing and subscribing” 
Please define the scope of work required for “Full publishing and subscribing” after March 
2018. Does this only refer to bug fixes, patches, and ongoing maintenance? 
What is the expectation for delivery of “functionality beyond the initially defined project 
period”, as stated on page 4, under RFP Purpose? 

Answer 
49 

Yes, the “full publishing and subscribing” refers to bug fixes, patching, ongoing maintenance 
and hosting.  Functionality beyond the initially defined project period may refer to the 
standards crosswalk and other enhancements requested by the MMI Task Force. 

Question 
50 

The Cost Response on page 14 and 15 includes a line item for “Content standards 
crosswalk”, which suggests the cost for maintaining this crosswalk would be incurred by the 
vendor.  However, Functional Requirements on page 10 include a note that each state may 
be “responsible for the alignment of their State’s standards.” Which approach is desired? 

Answer 
50 

The scenario that has been discussed is that each State has the authority to and 
responsibility of aligning their State standards to a “Rosetta Stone” set of standards for each 
content area.  Maintaining the tool and database to do this would be the responsibility of 
the vendor. 

Question 
51 

On page 4 of the RFP it notes that, “an open source platform is expected” yet on page 5 of 
the RFP is notes that “all code and documentation produced for this project will be the 
property of CCSSO”.  
If the project is released under an open source license such as Apache or MIT then it would 
not be any organization's property. Can you please clarify the nature of the open source 
effort of the project? 

Answer 
51 

See response to Question 26. 
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Request for Proposal 
Multi-State Metadata Index (MMI) 

 
 
The Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO) is seeking proposals to provide a solution similar to 
the Learning Registry but with additional functionality and ease-of-use.  The term agreed upon by the 
participating states is the Multi-state Metadata Index (MMI). The MMI is to be a directory of URLs and 
the associated metadata for educational resources.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Date of issue:  July 7, 2017 
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Submission information: 
 
The proposal must be received in writing (either printed or electronic) by 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time, August 
4, 2017.  Proposals received after that time may not be considered.  Electronic submissions should be 
formatted as PDFs and sent to: Shannon.Thomas@ccsso.org .   
 
All communications regarding this RFP should be sent in writing to Shannon Thomas, Program Director 
College- and Career- Readiness Standards at the electronic address above.  Vendors shall prepare these 
submissions and related materials at no cost to CCSSO. 
 

Questions  
If the Proponent has additional questions, please submit them to Shannon Thomas at 
Shannon.Thomas@ccsso.org with the subject line “Multi-state Metadata Index RFP”.  Please submit all 
questions by 5:00 p.m. Eastern Time, July 14, 2017. An RFP addendum will be issued no later than July 
19, 2017 with all received questions and their corresponding answers. 
  

Overview and Goals 
 

About CCSSO 

The Council of Chief State School Officers (CCSSO) is a nonpartisan, nationwide, nonprofit organization 
of public officials who head departments of elementary and secondary education in the states, the 
District of Columbia, the Department of Defense Education Activity, and five U.S. extra-state 
jurisdictions. CCSSO provides leadership, advocacy, and technical assistance on major educational 
issues. The Council seeks member consensus on major educational issues and expresses their views to 
civic and professional organizations, federal agencies, Congress, and the public.  

CCSSO’s Vision and Mission 

 
Our Vision 
The Council of Chief State School Officers is guided by an overarching aspiration which is to ensure that 
all students—regardless of background—are prepared for success in college, careers, and life.  
 
Our Mission 
Our belief is that CCSSO will have a significant impact on preparing all students for success in college, 
careers, and life by focusing our work on helping states succeed in the following interrelated areas1: 
 
GOAL 1: States set high expectations for student success by creating opportunities and removing 
barriers; 
 
GOAL 2:  States create multiple pathways for each student to successfully transition into, through, and 
beyond the K-12 system;  

                                                 
1
 Pending final Board approval in mid-July 2017 

mailto:Shannon.Thomas@ccsso.org
mailto:Shannon.Thomas@ccsso.org
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GOAL 3: States support teachers so each student experiences high-quality instruction;  
 
GOAL 4:  States support school and district leaders to continuously improve schools;  
 
GOAL 5:  Chiefs maximize the effectiveness of their state education agencies both in service of and as 
partners with district/local leaders; and 
 
GOAL 6: CCSSO is a strategic and healthy organization that reflects a set of core values that enables us to 
advance equity for all kids. 
 
Together, these six goals and the overarching aspiration that unites them, form a theory of action for 
CCSSO’s work. 
 

RFP Purpose 

 
CCSSO’s primary goal for this Request for Proposals (RFP) is the creation, implementation, and operation 
of a Multi-state Metadata Index (MMI) that will meet the needs of CCSSO and the participating states.  
More importantly, the objective is to select a vendor who will grow with CCSSO’s needs and provide 
functionality beyond the initially defined project period.  
 
The product/service will provide the means to facilitate the automated exchange of open educational 
resources (OER) content between local OER platforms, will leverage a common metadata tagging 
framework, will provide the ability to support confidence matching of searched content to a user’s local 
state content standards and provide analytics to evaluate the product/service and access of published 
content. The product/service is not intended to serve as an OER platform. 
 
An open source platform is expected and it must be actively supported by the professional community 
and maintained/managed by the open source provider.  All works will include this Creative Commons 
license:  CC BY 4.0. 
 
The platform must be securable to prevent unauthorized access and manipulation of content, and must 
be delivered to CCSSO in a secured state.  The platform should be patched and updated regularly to 
address security vulnerabilities in a manner consistent with industry best practices.   
 
 

Proposal and Contract Information 
 
Evaluation Criteria 
Proposals will be evaluated to determine if they meet the requirements in this RFP.   In addition to that 
basic criterion, CCSSO also will compare cost, experience of the proponent with comparable projects, 
feedback from past clients, execution plan, and alignment of the proposal with CCSSO’s mission. 
 
 
Pricing 
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CCSSO’s prefers to receive fixed-fee, all-inclusive proposals, but will consider carefully defined time and 
materials proposals. 
 
Delivery and installation 
The final platform should be delivered by March 1, 2018.  The desired timeline is below with key 
milestones in bold. 
 
Task       Due Date 
Vendor Selected and Contract Executed  September 2017 
Requirements Gathering Process Complete  October 2017 
Pilot Site Metadata Uploaded    November 2017 
Platform Development     November – December 2017 
Initial QA Testing     December 2017 
Prototype Complete     January 2018  
First Round Revisions Complete    January 2018 (2 Weeks) 
Second Round Revisions Complete   January 2018 (2 Weeks) 
Final QA Testing                   February 2018 
Final Platform Delivered    March 2018 
Continued Implementation and Support   Ongoing through June 2022 
 
 
Reporting and project management 
The contractor will provide a primary point of contact and an alternate, to serve as a project manager 
(PM) who is tasked to seeing the project through to successful completion.  CCSSO will provide a primary 
contact and an alternate contact.  The PM will provide at minimum weekly reports of project progress 
and will track for CCSSO current work against the project plan and milestones listed above.  Proposal 
should describe the contractor’s approach to project management of an engagement of this size and 
scope. 
 
Intellectual Property 
All code and documentation produced for this project will be the property of CCSSO.  If the contractor 
chooses to use for this project any code not written by contractor employees (such as code available on 
the Internet), the contractor will certify that such code is free of defects in security or function and that 
it has been obtained under the appropriate Creative Commons or open source licensing.  
 
Copyright (c) 2017, CCSSO 
All rights reserved. 
 
Redistribution and use in source and binary forms, with or without 
modification, are permitted provided that the following conditions are met: 

1. Redistributions of source code must retain the above copyright notice, this list of conditions and 
the following disclaimer. 

2. Redistributions in binary form must reproduce the above copyright notice, this list of conditions 
and the following disclaimer in the documentation and/or other materials provided with the 
distribution. 

3. All advertising materials mentioning features or use of this software must display the following 
acknowledgement:  This product includes software developed by the <organization>. 

4. Neither the name of the <organization> nor the names of its contributors may be used to 
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endorse or promote products derived from this software without specific prior written 
permission. 

 
THIS SOFTWARE IS PROVIDED BY CCSSO ''AS IS'' AND ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES, 
INCLUDING, BUT NOT LIMITED TO, THE IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY AND FITNESS FOR 
A PARTICULAR PURPOSE ARE DISCLAIMED. IN NO EVENT SHALL <COPYRIGHT HOLDER> BE LIABLE FOR 
ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, INCIDENTAL, SPECIAL, EXEMPLARY, OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING, 
BUT NOT LIMITED TO, PROCUREMENT OF SUBSTITUTE GOODS OR SERVICES; LOSS OF USE, DATA, OR 
PROFITS; OR BUSINESS INTERRUPTION) HOWEVER CAUSED AND ON ANY THEORY OF LIABILITY, 
WHETHER IN CONTRACT, STRICT LIABILITY, OR TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE OR OTHERWISE) ARISING 
IN ANY WAY OUT OF THE USE OF THIS SOFTWARE, EVEN IF ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH 
DAMAGE. 
 
Documentation 
Platform code shall be documented according to industry best practices and that documentation shall 
be delivered to CCSSO upon completion/termination of the agreement. Documentation should be 
available via GitHub (or similar site) for interested parties to use. CCSSO will hold the account credentials 
for the documentation site of choice. 
 
A containerized version of the application should be made available to allow for testing to easily occur 
by state education agencies. 
 
Training 
In addition to providing the above documentation, the contractor shall provide training for CCSSO and 
pilot state personnel.  Training shall be in the form of easy-to-understand how-to guides as well as in-
person, one-on-one or classroom-based training delivered just prior to rollout. 
 
Contractor information 
The proposal should state the total number of company employees, the number of employees, and 
years in operation. It should also include relevant experience and projects in this sector. 
 
Cancellation of contract 
If either party fails to fulfill the terms and provisions of this agreement, the party claiming such failure 
must give written notice of the breach claimed to the other party.  If within 14 days of receipt of the 
notice, the failure has not been corrected or arrangements made for settlement, the claiming party may 
terminate this agreement 30 days after giving written notice of that termination to the breaching party.  
In case of termination, CCSSO is entitled to all code, wireframes, and intellectual property produced for 
this project by the contractor. 
 

Learning Registry Background 
 

Current State 
 
The Learning Registry is a U.S. Department of Education (USED) owned and operated online service that 
serves as a hub for aggregating metadata for Open Education Resources (OER). OER content providers 
and platforms have the ability to publish to and harvest resources from this central hub by providing 
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links to and key metadata associated with their OER content. The Learning Registry is not designed to 
serve as an OER content platform. USED manages this service, and owns the intellectual property to the 
name ‘Learning Registry’.  
 

 

Challenges 
 
Current challenges the states have had in trying to publish and harvest resources from the Learning 
Registry (http://learningregistry.org/) include: 

● Publishing, harvesting OER content to the Registry and searching for available content through 
the Registry is a manual process, requires IT coding intervention, and is not user-friendly 

● There is no ability to match available content to local content standards using the “EasyPublish” 
tool 

● Little to no analytics are available for published content 
● Published resources are questionable regarding quality and associated metadata may be 

incomplete or inaccurate and there are no standards or expectations for who can publish or 
what can be published, including types of resources 

 

Desired Future-State 
The Learning Registry is a joint collaboration between the U.S. Department of Education and CCSSO. The 
desired future state of this proposed project is to become a rebranded, state-driven initiative and 
service. The service will provide the means to facilitate the automated exchange of OER content 
between local OER platforms, will leverage a common metadata tagging framework, will provide the 
ability to support confidence matching of searched content to a user’s local state content standards and 
provide analytics to evaluate the service and access of published content. The service is not intended to 
serve as an OER platform. 
 
The MMI Task Force is interested in a service that adheres to recognized standards such as the Common 
Education Data Standards (CEDS), Learning Resource Metadata Initiative (LRMI), Dublin Core Metadata 
Initiative (DCMI), Shareable Content Object Reference Model (SCORM), Experience API (xAPI), Open 
Archives Initiative – Protocol for Metadata Harvesting (OAI-PMH), The Accessible Portable Item Protocol 
(APIP), and IMS Global Standards such as Learning Tools Interoperability (LTI), Common Cartridge (CC), 
Thin Common Cartridge (TCC) where applicable. 
 
Additionally, the MMI Task Force is interested in compliance with the emerging IMS Global “LOR Search” 
standards. 
 

The diagram below outlines the state-developed, conceptual model of the MMI. 
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*SEA: state education agency 
 
MMI Task Force 
 
The Multi-State Metadata Index (MMI) Guiding Principles were created to support the decision-making 
and management structure established by working members of the founding States (hereby known 
collectively as “the Task Force”), regarding the development, management, operation, use, and security 
of a jointly supported metadata repository index for the purpose of sharing Open Educational Resources 
(OER) among the States and School Districts participating in the MMI registry.  The founding states 
include: Arizona, Georgia, Mississippi, North Carolina, Oregon, Virginia and Wisconsin.  
 
With the development and implementation of a Multi-state Metadata Index Task Force, the 
participating agencies should be considered the customers of the index and will serve as the reviewers 
of all proposal submissions. CCSSO will oversee this process and provide a rubric for evaluation of each 
submission.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

www.ccsso.org   18 

MMI Decision Making Model 
 

 
 

MMI Critical Success Factors 
 
Metadata Standards 
Common metadata standards for tagging OER content will be applied to all content for exchange, to 
include if the content has been evaluated/vetted – and if so, what method was used. 
 
Resource Exchange 
Local OER platforms can choose to share content in their platform for exchange using the online service. 
The process of sharing, harvesting and searching (to include filtering) for available exchanged content is 
automated and user friendly, supports multiple platforms through using a standard exchange process, 
and requires no IT coding intervention to facilitate this process.  
 
Standards Alignment 
Users are able to determine the alignment of searched OER content to local state content standards 
through providing a confidence match. 
 
Analytics 
Analytics are available for reporting on exchanged OER content, and to verify the continued availability 
of exchanged content. 
 
Publishing Guidelines 
Clear guidelines and expectations for who can publish and exchange content through the service are 
established.  This includes alignment to Federal (ADA 508) Accessibility Standards. Also required is a 
clear identification of who published the content to the MMI. 
 
Accessibility Standards 
The MMI service itself should meet Federal (ADA 508) Accessibility Standards. 
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Technical Functionality 
 

Functional Requirements 
 
CCSSO requires an easy-to-use platform that is used to manage metadata for state-published resources. 
The states must be able to manage their own content metadata and the current, ongoing challenge is 
the ability to keep the metadata fresh. The MMI must be intuitive, simple and able to expand 
functionally with the growing needs of CCSSO’s members.  
 

1. Login and Verification is based on institution/organization not person – Each State will assign 
designees for the lead publisher/curator for development, vetting, publishing, curation, and 
removal of the content provided for each State. Permissions will vary by role type. Please 
describe how this process could be accomplished.  

2. Is less of a “Technical Lift” for States to deploy – Previous attempts at utilizing the Learning 
Registry required State coding and technical expertise.  States have varying technical and 
support capacity so varied entry points and associated costs are desired. Please describe how 
the MMI will be different from the current Learning Registry process. 

3. Easy Publishing feature (import) – Please describe the scenario for publishing content from the 
State to the MMI. 

4. Easy Harvesting feature (export) – Please describe the scenario for harvesting content from the 
MMI. 

5. Ability to edit records – Please describe the ability to edit records published to the MMI both in 
general and by role type. 

6. Ability to add tags to records – Please describe the tagging options for records in the MMI. 
7. Use of multi-state tagging field requirements – Please describe how the MMI will adhere to the 

tagging guidelines as developed by the participating States, specifically the ones from the Multi-
state Tagging Initiative. 

8. Ability to align resources to other state content standards, not just Common Core State 
Standards (CCSS) – Please describe how records may be tagged with other content standards 
beyond the CCSS. 

9. Ability to add comments to metadata records – Please describe how comments could be 
attached to extend the metadata for a record. 

10. Provides usage statistics – Please describe how usage statistics can be managed by the MMI. 
11. Ability to provide analytics on the resources published – Please describe abilities for analytics 

listed below: 
a. Rating 
b. Usage 
c. Comments 
d. Like/dislike, thumbs up 
e. Saved previous or exported by user 

12. State standards alignment crosswalk – Please describe how a crosswalk of State standards 
could be built into the MMI to allow “like” standards from different States to be linked as well as 
their associated resources.  (Note, the States have discussed the use of a “Rosetta Stone” set of 
standards, such as CCSS for ELA and Math, and NGSS for Science, with each state being 
responsible for the alignment of their State’s standards.) 

 
 

https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1fAvQme30RnZzKQSiJMv4bQrsZ53T_sBEeAtp-gsr5OE/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/spreadsheets/d/1fAvQme30RnZzKQSiJMv4bQrsZ53T_sBEeAtp-gsr5OE/edit?usp=sharing
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Technical Requirements 
1. State private node – Please describe how this node would be private for publishing but public 

for harvesting.  Existing records in the current Learning Registry are not to be imported into this 
database.  CCSSO expects the import into the MMI to be composed of existing, state-vetted 
content metadata from the member states.  Both bulk and individual record import capability is 
desired. 

a. Ability to write to node is restricted 
b. Ability to read node is public 

2. Login and verification – Please describe the login and verification process that would be 
required of State personnel. 

a. Users meet criteria to publish 
b. Attach to individuals by role type within an organization not individual 

3. Open source code – Any enhancements or changes to the MMI code will be open.  
4. Graphical User Interface for interaction by users who may not have the technical support that 

others have. – Details of the GUI will be decided in consultation with the MMI Task Force, but 
initial proposals should indicate the ability to meet this requirement. 

5. Broken link checker – Please describe the process for management and repair of broken links. 
6. Version control- Ability to note when a resource was added and/or revised. 
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Vendor Response Content and Format 
 
Please use the following outline in preparing your proposal: 
1. Preparer contact information 
The proposal should provide the name and contact information of the preparer or someone who can 
answer questions about the proposal. 
 
2. References 
Provide the names of three businesses for which you have completed projects similar in size, scope, and 
technical complexity within the past two years.  Provide contact information for an individual at each 
reference who can speak to your company’s performance. 
 
3. Written Proposal Content 
Proposal should state how the contractor will address each requirement in this request for proposal.  If 
there is a requirement the vendor cannot address, that should be noted as well. 
 

3.1. Overall description of your solution 
Please provide a high-level description of your solution and the benefits it will provide CCSSO 
and the participating States.  This should include a description of the platform environment, 
server type, database software and ongoing hosting of the service.  The MMI Task Force 
expects that the proposed service will be implemented in a phased approach beginning with a 
pilot of the solution with a small number of states with differing capability levels (either 
technical or content support).  Building on the learnings of the pilot sites, a full solution for 
other states can be developed.  It is hoped that along with the necessary service, instructions 
and pre-requisites for a state to join the service will be developed. 

 
3.2. Project Management Approach 

Project Team Organization Chart 
Project Team Staffing including the roles and responsibilities of each staff member.  Please 
provide complete resumes of each staff member. 
Project Work plan 
Change Management Approach 
Issues Management Approach 
Knowledge Transfer Approach 

 
3.3. Proposed Approach to Enhancements 

Within the Proposal, please describe the Proposer’s system design and development approach 
for making enhancements to the Multi-state Metadata Index software.  Explain the tools used 
to develop the product.   
 

3.4. Support and Maintenance Program 
The Proposer should discuss its approach to maintaining all version control methods and tools 
used to control the release of Multi-state Metadata Index software versions and source code.  
This includes the development and identification of a baseline software version and the 
tracking and deployment of subsequent software versions.   
 
Any enhancements or changes to the MMI code will be open.  
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Please discuss how the Proposer ensures that all software upgrades operate with the 
customizations made by the Proposer during the design, development, and implementation of 
the Multi-state Metadata Index and any subsequent customizations made by the Proposer 
post-implementation. 
 

3.5. Security Strategy 
Security Architecture 
Please discuss the proposed Multi-state Metadata Index product security architecture and the 
security and access structure, including: 

● user account structure  
● user account and profile maintenance  
● user group profile and maintenance  
● user and group access security matrix (defining access to application menus and 

functions) 
● audit reporting of system and application access 

 
Managing Security 
Please describe the Proposer’s recommended approach for defining and managing security 
levels and the capabilities associated with each security level.  CCSSO requires that security 
management be centralized, whereby authorized users within the MMI group are able to 
perform some security administration functions (e.g., create and update an individual user’s 
security profile, reset passwords, etc.).   

 
3.6. Training Approach 

CCSSO recognizes that there are several options that can be deployed to successfully train the 
District staff on the proposed system.  CCSSO prefers the training to be scheduled “just-in-
time” to coincide with the software Proposer’s go-live deployment schedule.  Please identify 
the following: 

● a training plan for providing live, interactive, classroom-style training of all CCSSO and 
State personnel.   

● the approach can include a combination of live training, web-based training, and/or 
web- or media-based courses for members to view at their own pace based upon the 
optimal or best training practice. 

● staffing model for providing training - this will include a statement of the qualifications 
and experience of the vendor’s training personnel. 

 
4. Response to Technical Functionality 
Please describe how the proposed solution meets the functional and technical requirements as 
indicated below.  Diagrams, flowcharts, and examples are encouraged to help the evaluation team 
understand the response. 
 

4.1. Functional Requirements 
4.1.1. Login and Verification is based on institution/organization not person 
4.1.2. Is less of a “Technical Lift” for States to deploy 
4.1.3. Easy Publishing feature (import) 
4.1.4. Easy Harvesting feature (export) 
4.1.5. Ability to edit records  
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4.1.6. Ability to add tags to records 
4.1.7. Use of multi-state tagging field requirements 
4.1.8. Ability to use other standards, not just CCSS 
4.1.9. Ability to add comments to metadata records 
4.1.10. Provides usage statistics  
4.1.11. Ability to provide analytics on the resources published 

4.1.11.1. Rating 
4.1.11.2. Usage 
4.1.11.3. Comments 
4.1.11.4. Like/dislike, thumbs up 
4.1.11.5. Saved previous or exported by user 

4.1.12. State standards alignment crosswalk 
 

4.2. Technical Requirements 
4.2.1. State private node 

4.2.1.1. Ability to write to node is restricted 
4.2.1.2. Ability to read node is public 

4.2.2. Login and verification 
4.2.2.1. Users meet criteria to publish 
4.2.2.2. Attach to organization not individual 

4.2.3. Open source code 
4.2.4. Graphical User Interface for interaction by users who may not have the technical support 

that others have. 
4.2.5. Broken link checker 
4.2.6. Version control 
4.2.7. Accessibility 

 
5. Cost Response 
Cost Proposal must include the estimated costs of furnishing all materials, equipment, labor, 
maintenance, training, operating manuals, and services necessary or proper for the completion of the 
work described in this RFP unless otherwise noted in the RFP.  CCSSO shall not be liable for any costs 
beyond those proposed in this RFP and awarded.  Proposers must include all travel and living expenses 
in their Professional Services costs. 
 
Please Complete the following Cost Summary Table:   

    

Aug 2017 – 
Dec 2017 

Costs 

    

Ite
m 

No. Application 

Jan 2018 – 
Mar 2018 

Costs 

Apr 2018 - 
June 2022 

Costs Total Price 

   

1 Phase I - Pilot of 2-3 states  $-     $-      $-    

2 Phase II - Full publishing and subscribing      $-     $-  $-    

3 Phase II - Content standards crosswalk   $-  $-  $- 

  Other Applications or Costs (enter name below) 

4 
Hosting Costs including storage space and 
server upgrades  $-     $-     $-   $-    

5    $-     $-     $-   $-    
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6      

  Installation Services    

7 
Development and Implementation Project 
Management       $-    

8 Configure/Customize to CCSSO requirements       $-    

9 Usage and Analytic Report Development       $-    

10 Curation Support       $-    

  Other Services (enter name below) 

11      

12      

13         $-    

  Training Services    

14 
Training for CCSSO and State Personnel 
Total       $-    

15 Online Training Development       $-    

  Other Training (enter name below) 

16      $-    

17      $-    

  Total Price $0.00 $0.00 $0.00  $-    

      

 
 
6. Acknowledgement of terms 
Proposal should acknowledge acceptance of all terms in this RFP. 
 
7. Agreement documents 
Samples of the agreement documents/forms to be used with this contract should be included with the 
proposal.  
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Standard Contract Provisions 
 
Any work Product shall be owned by and remain the property of the Council. However the Council 
grants the Company a co-exclusive, unlimited, royalty- free, world- wide license to use, reproduce, 
modify , prepare derivative versions of, and display the Work Product . No Work Product produced in 
whole or in part under this Agreement shall be the subject of an application for copyright or patent by or 
on behalf of the Council, or the Company. 
  
Company shall deliver to the Council all tangible and/or electronic representations of the Work Product 
upon completion of the Deliverables, or otherwise at any time upon the request of the Council. 
  
Company shall help prepare any papers the Council considers necessary to secure any copyrights, 
patents, trademarks or other intellectual property rights at no charge to the Council.  However, the 
Council shall reimburse you for reasonable out-of-pocket expenses you may incur related to any such 
activities. 
  
Company agrees that the Work Product will be your original work and that you will not use the 
confidential or proprietary information of any third party in the Work Product. 
  
Company agrees that all media interactions will be managed by the CCSSO communications team. All 
media inquiries should be immediately routed to Communications Director, Melissa McGrath or 
someone she designates. If you receive a call or email directly from a reporter please advise them that 
you will have their request responded to promptly by a member of our communications team. Take 
down the media representative’s name, media affiliation, and telephone number or email address. Then 
call or email Melissa McGrath as soon as possible. Please do not engage the report in a discussion or say 
“no comment.” 
  
Company agrees that you have not and/or will not create a social media account with a CCSSO email 
address. If, for any reason, Company have created or create a social media account using a CCSSO email 
address, Company agrees to relinquish all rights to the account, account username, and account 
passwords to CCSSO. All social media accounts, account usernames, and account passwords created on 
behalf of CCSSO or with CCSSO email addresses are the sole property of CCSSO and must be approved in 
advance by CCSSO’s communications team. Company will submit any plans to communicate your work 
for, or on behalf of CCSSO or states, to CCSSO’s communications department. Either the director of 
communications or the press secretary at CCSSO will approve all communications about the work, 
including press releases and social media posts.  
 
Applicable law 
This contract will be governed by the laws of the District of Columbia. 
 
No employee benefits for contractor 
The contractor is not to be considered an employee of CCSSO in any way for purposes of insurance, 
benefits, taxes, or withholding. 
 
Liability 
The contractor will act in an independent capacity from CCSSO and shall hold harmless CCSSO and its 
officers and employees from liability and any claims, suits, judgments, and damages arising as a result of 
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the contractor’s acts and/or omissions in the performance of the contract. 
 
Insurance 
Before commencing work, the contractor must submit proof of insurance for $1 million general liability, 
$1 million automotive liability, and workman’s compensation coverage.  This insurance coverage must 
be maintained over the length of the contractor’s business relationship with CCSSO. 
 
Amendments 
All changes, modifications, or amendments to the contract shall be in writing, dated, and signed by an 
authorized representative of CCSSO and the contractor. 
 
Confidentiality 
It is possible that as part of working on this project, the contractor or its agents will come in contact with 
proprietary or confidential information.  The contractor agrees to sign a non-disclosure agreement of 
CCSSO’s choosing that will be binding on itself as an entity and its employees as individuals.  The 
contractor agrees to report and unauthorized release of information to the CCSSO Chief Information 
Officer within two business days of the release. 
 
Criminal background checks 
The contractor agrees that any employees working on this project may be subject to a criminal 
background check at CCSSO expense. 
 
Contractor employees in CCSSO offices 
CCSSO may refuse admittance to its offices to any of the contractor’s employees for any reason, which it 
need not divulge to the contractor.  The contractor agrees to send a different employee if this situation 
arises. 
 
Subcontractors 
The contractor shall not assign or subcontract performance of this contract or any portion of it to 
another party without the prior written consent of CCSSO.  Any subcontractor is subject to all terms and 
conditions applicable to the primary contractor. 
 
Mandatory arbitration 
CCSSO will not accept a contract that includes mandatory binding arbitration. 
 
Indemnification 
The contractor shall indemnify CCSSO from all liability arising from intellectual property disputes 
referencing the delivered website code or other content produced by the contractor, such as graphics, 
photographs, or text.   


